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Key Management Personnel, Board of Governors and Professional advisers 

 
Key management personnel 
 
Key management personnel are defined as members of the College Senior Leadership Team and were 
represented by the following in 2017/ /2018: 
 
Zoe A Lewis, Principal and CEO; Accounting Officer 
Gary Cumiskey, Deputy Principal / CEO 
Peter Wilson, Managing Director 
Carolyn Kipling, Vice Principal Finance and Registry 
John Chance, Vice Principal Quality and Standards 
Richard Atkinson, Assistant Principal Human Resources 
Jane Steel, Assistant Principal Students 
Peter Bland, Assistant Principal Estates 
Andy Wond, Executive Director Information Services 
 
 
Board of Governors 

A full list of Governors is given on page 15 of these financial statements. 
 
Mr Richard Atkinson acted as Clerk to the Corporation throughout the period. 

 
Professional advisers 
 
Financial statements and regularity auditor:  Internal Auditor: 
KPMG LLP       ICCA Education Training and Skills Ltd 
Quayside House      11th Floor 
110 Quayside       McLaren House 
Newcastle upon Tyne      46 Priory Queensway 
NE1 3DX       Birmingham 

B4 7LR 
 
Bankers: 
Barclays Bank Plc      
The Mall      
Middlesbrough      
TS1 2NR  
    
Santander Bank 
Corporate Banking 
Level 9 Baltic Place 
South Shore Road 
Gateshead 
NE8 3AE 
 
Legal advisers: 
Womble Bond Dickinson (UK) LLP    
St Ann's Wharf 
112 Quayside 
Newcastle Upon Tyne 
NE1 3DX  
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Principal’s Foreword 
 
At Middlesbrough College, from the Governing Body to every staff member, we are driven by a determination 
to generate opportunity, employment and prosperity for our communities, linking our provision to the skills 
needs of local employers and supporting our students to achieve the very best they can.  
 
We have recently launched our revised five-year strategic plan for the period 2018-2023 which builds upon our 
recent success and sets out our statement of ambition for the future period.   
 
In September 2018 the college had an Ofsted inspection, resulting in an overall Grade 2 “Good”, a testament 
to the hard work and commitment by all staff across the organisation. 
 
Over the last five years, the College has been through a period of significant growth, successfully realigning 
our offer to the skills requirements of our economy; developing and expanding our STEM offer (science, 
technology, engineering and maths), and forging strong partnerships with employers to develop the talent and 
productivity of their businesses. 
 
In 2016, we welcomed the former NECC training company into our Group as we renamed our apprenticeship 
training arm, Northern Skills Group (NSG), and offered our services across a wider geography.  NSG 
continues to be one of the largest apprenticeship training providers in the North East of England covering 
priority sectors and supporting employers across the region with their workforce development needs. 
 
All of this, whilst maintaining a commitment to build confidence and independence in our most vulnerable 
learners and those furthest from the jobs market. 

 
Whilst this journey has not been without its challenges, we enter this new period, with student outcomes 
stronger than ever before.  More of our students than ever complete their courses, achieve their qualifications 
with good grades, gain additional competencies and employability skills, and successfully progress into 
employment, an apprenticeship, self-employment or further / higher education. 
 
Whilst our funding rates remain fixed and local demographics continue to decline, we have taken the 
opportunity during 2017 / 2018 to adapt our organisation to ensure our continued financial stability for the 
forthcoming period. 
 
Recognising that our staff are central and crucial to the success of the continuing success of the college and 
achieving its mission – we will place a continued emphasis on the ‘One Team’ culture which makes the 
College such a fantastic place to learn and work. 
 
We would like to congratulate and thank our students, staff and governors for what has been another 
amazingly successful year for the College.   
 
Despite the difficult economic climate, the College is confident that it will continue to grow its reputation for 
excellence in education and training, to meet the needs of young people, adults and employers, and that it will 
play an increasingly important and exciting part regenerating our local and regional economy. 

 
 

 
 
Mrs Zoe Lewis 
Principal / Chief Executive 
18 December 2018 
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Report of the Governing Body  
 
NATURE, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES  
 
The members present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2018. 
 
Legal status 
 
The Corporation was established under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the purpose of 
conducting Middlesbrough College. The College is an exempt charity for the purposes of Part 3 of the 
Charities Act 2011.  
 
The College holds 100% of the issued shares in the following subsidiary companies: 
 
Northern Skills Group Business Services Limited (formerly known as Northern Skills Group Limited) 
On 1 August 2016 Middlesbrough College acquired 100% share capital of the company, a large local 
apprenticeship training provider.  

 
Middlesbrough College Management Services Limited 
The company was incorporated in 1993.  The company did not trade during 2017 / 2018. 
 
Northern Apprenticeship Company Limited  
The company operates as an Apprenticeship Training Agency employing apprentices engaged on a training 
programme with a major local organisation. 
 
Mizaru Media Limited (dormant)  
Mizaru Media Limited was incorporated in 2011.  The company did not trade during 2017 / 2018.  

 
It is the main objective of the College’s subsidiary companies to assist in the delivery of the College’s principal 
mission and objectives. 
 
Mission  
 
The College’s Mission Statement for 2017 / 2018 was “To provide education and skills that enhance the 
region’s economic and social prosperity”. 
 
Public benefit 
 
Middlesbrough College is an exempt charity under Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011 and following the 
Machinery of Government changes in July 2016, is regulated by the Secretary of State for Education. The 
members of the Governing Body, who are trustees of the charity, are disclosed on pages 15 - 17. 
 
In setting and reviewing the College’s strategic objectives, the Governing Body has had due regard for the 
Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit and particularly upon its supplementary guidance on the 
advancement of education. The guidance sets out the requirement that all organisations wishing to be 
recognised as charities must demonstrate, explicitly that their aims are for the public benefit. 
 
In delivering its mission, the College provides the following identifiable public benefits through the 
advancement of education: 
 

 High-quality teaching 
 Widening participation and tackling social exclusion 
 Excellent employment record for students 
 Strong student support systems 
 Links with employers, industry and commerce and Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) 
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Strategic Aims and Priorities 
 
The Governing Body and Senior Leadership Team updated the five year strategic plan in May 2018, setting 
out the statement of ambition for the period 2018 - 2023.   
 

 
 

Strategic Priorities 
 

1. One Ambition - To deliver excellent teaching and learning which enables our students to achieve 
the highest possible outcomes and prepares them to progress positively on to their chosen next step. 
 

2. One Commitment - To develop progressive partnerships with employers, which develop the talent 
and skills of their workforce, creating a competitive edge and increased productivity for their 
business. 
 

3. One Community - To welcome diversity and create an environment in which students and staff are 
safe, supported, and develop as people, providing a student experience which is responsive to their 
views. 
 

4. One Team - To attract, develop and retain a highly skilled workforce who provide an excellent, stable 
and innovative learning environment, demonstrating our core values at all times. 
 

5. One Voice – to engage positively with stakeholders, allowing us to influence and swiftly enact skills 
policy, working in partnership with like-minded organisations that share our values and commitment. 
 

6. Organisational Resilience - To deliver our strategy through maintaining financial stability and 
appropriate investment in our assets and offer, which in turn is shaped by our economy, partners and 
our communities. 

 
 
 
  

 Vision Statement 

 
To be a leading provider of education and training, which improves educational outcomes, employment 

prospects and lifetime opportunities for our students. 
  

Mission Statement  

To provide education and skills that enhance the region’s economic and social prosperity. 
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The College values set out the behaviour expected of both staff and students and are very much at the heart 
of delivery of the College strategy. 

Our Values 
1. Take Responsibility 

 
2. Aim High  

 
3. Respect Others 

 
4. Work Hard  

 
5. Do What’s Right 

 
6. Challenge Yourself 

 
7. Take Pride 

 
 
The Strategic Plan reinforces the need to ensure the College meets the needs of the local economy and 
emphasises our obligation to ensure that all students gain the skills they need to progress into further 
education and ultimately employment.  
 
Within the Strategic Priority ‘Organisational Resilience” the College has set its overarching Financial Objective 
“To deliver our strategy through maintaining financial stability and appropriate investment in our 
assets and offer, which in turn is shaped by our economy, partners and our communities”. 
 
We will:  

 Ensure financial stability and meet bank covenants and ESFA health ratings at all times. 
 

 Provide an annual investment in our IT, estate and equipment which maintains an outstanding 
learning environment which keeps pace with changing technologies. 

 
 Ensure growth opportunities are assessed against the position impact on learners, employers and 

the local community. 
 

 Provide a forum which regularly assesses and manages risk. 
 

 Ensure adequate arrangements are in place to safeguard our reputation and business continuity.  
 

 Ensure our Governing Body includes a broad range of skills and experience and is able to set and 
review our strategic plan with objectivity and ‘value driven’ decision making and provide 
appropriate levels of challenge and support to ensure its delivery. 

 
The financial performance indicators by which the College determines its success in achieving this are: 
 

 Ensure financial ESFA health ratings are met at all times, achieving a financial health rating of no 
lower than 130 points ‘satisfactory’ in the short term and returning to ‘good’ over the long term. 
 

 Meet all bank covenants in place. 
 

 Receive no adverse internal audit reports. 
 

 Obtain an unqualified audit opinion. 
 
 Generate cash on operations each year. 

 
The financial objectives have been achieved for 2017 / 2018. 
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The College is required to complete the annual Finance Record for the Education and Skills Funding Agency 
(ESFA). The financial health grading of Satisfactory is considered as acceptable and the college is focussed 
on improving this rating through reducing debt levels from cash generation and setting surplus budgets. 
 
The College monitors its performance against the strategic plan set and its achievement of the strategic 
priorities. 
 
Turnover for the year was £41.323m (2016 / 2017: £42.288m) with the operating position before pension 
accounting being a deficit of £0.187m, after one-off costs and credits including £0.290m one-off restructuring 
costs following a cost savings and efficiency review during the year. (2016 / 2017: deficit £0.605m).  
 
The College was funded by the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) for 4,140 learners aged 16-18 
equating to £21.493m of programme funding (2016 / 2017: 4,407 learners £22.519m).  Actual recruitment in 
2017 / 2018 has fallen short of target at 3,926 learners. 
 
The College’s Adult Education delivery is £4.232m against an allocation of £4.232m. (2016 / 2017: £4.877m 
actual delivery including one-off SSI retraining income).  Apprenticeship activity for the year was £4.977m. 
(2016 / 2017: £5.393m). 
 
In 2017 / 2018, the College delivered Higher Education (HE) programmes in partnership with Teesside 
University.  The College recruited 603 learners, generating £2.756m from this provision.  From 2018 / 2019 the 
College is directly funded by the OfS with the Open University being the validating partner. 
 
 
Performance Measures 
 
The College has a full suite of Key Performance Measures across the curriculum and business support areas 
which are linked to the College strategic objectives. These are all measured termly and progress is reported to 
the Governing Body.   
 
The college is rated Good by OFSTED (September 2018) for its FE provision and was awarded TEF Gold 
status by OfS (2017) for Higher Education provision. 
 
For classroom based provision, outcomes for learners have rapidly improved since 2014 / 2015 with 
achievement rates rising from 74.1% to 86%. Achievement for 16-18 year olds are very high and well above 
national rates. The significant majority of learners achieve high grades. The majority of qualification types and 
sectors are now above national rates.  
 
Overall Study Programme qualification achievement rates are very high for the second year running and place 
the College in the top quartile of GFE colleges nationally, at 86% being an increase of 6% in three years and 
are 7% above national rate.  
 
Level 3 Value Added for vocational courses is very high, attainment on technical, applied general and other 
level 3 qualifications is high.  
 
Study Programme English and mathematics Functional Skills achievement rates are very high for the second 
year running and well above national rates. 
 
The majority of GCSE and Functional Skills learners make good progress towards achieving GCSE grade 4 
(legacy grade C). DfE English and mathematics average progress data are -0.01 and 0.09 respectively, both 
above GFE national rate and significantly improved over the last three years and should place the college in 
the top quartile of colleges nationally (when published data is released). 
 
GCSE High Grade achievement for Adult learners on discreet courses is high and well above the national rate.  
The majority of adult provision qualification types are around national rate. GCSE, Diploma and Award 
qualifications are above, while Access, Basic Skills, ESOL and certificates are slightly below. 
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Apprenticeship framework timely achievement rates are high and for the second year running place the 
College in the top 30% of colleges nationally. Achievement of apprentices is above the national rate with 
overall achievement standing at 71%.  Timely achievement is 66% (significantly above national rate). 
 
Learner positive destinations has improved once again to its highest levels ever of 97% for 16-18 year olds 
and 93% for adult learners.  Almost all learners move on to sustained education, employment, training or an 
apprenticeship, including those studying HE qualifications rates. 
 
National learner survey (FE) and national student survey (HE) satisfaction rates are high.  
The college is joint fourth in a league table of all GFE colleges, based on a group of DfE performance 
measures, reporting learner and employer satisfaction and learner destinations (FE week, Nov 2018). 
 
 
Financial results 
 
The Group reported an operating deficit on continuing operations in the year of £0.187m, after depreciation 
and amortisation of £4.201m but before FRS102 and enhanced pension accounting adjustments of £1.370m. 
(2016 / 2017 deficit £0.605m).  Total comprehensive expenditure is £0.917m (2016 / 2017: income £2.298m). 
The result is after one off costs incurred in the year, including £0.290m one-off restructuring costs following a 
cost savings and efficiency review. 
 
After accounting for FRS102, the college is reporting an overall deficit result of £1.557m (2016 / 2017: 
£1.951m). The following table explains the movement between the operating deficit position of £0.187m and 
the overall deficit of £1.557m. 
 
 £’000 £’000 
Operating deficit position  187 
FRS102 service charge to staff costs 1,015  
FRS102 pension interest charge to interest and other finance 
costs 

184  

Enhanced pension provision movement 171  
Overall deficit for the year  1,557 

 
 
The Group has accumulated reserves of £14.614m including a defined benefit pension liability of £8.217m and 
cash balances of £1.345m. The College is committed to investing any surplus funds in capital investment 
projects for the benefit of learners. 
 
Tangible fixed assets additions during the year amounted to £0.357m which related to investment in IT 
infrastructure and equipment. 
 
The College remains highly dependent on the education sector funding bodies for its principal source of 
funding, largely from recurrent grants. In 2017 / 2018, the funding bodies provided 79.1% of the Group’s total 
income (excluding release of capital grants) (2016 / 2017: 82.2%).   
 
The group result for the year includes the College’s subsidiary company results, being a surplus for Northern 
Skills Group of £0.334m and a surplus of £0.015m for Northern Apprenticeship Company Limited (before 
taxation). Mizaru Media Limited and Middlesbrough College Management Services Limited were dormant 
during the year.   
 
Any surpluses generated by the subsidiaries are transferred to the College under deed of covenant subject to 
the availability of sufficient distributable reserves.  
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Treasury Policy and Objectives 
 
Treasury management is the management of the College’s cash flows, its banking, money market and capital 
market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities and the pursuit of 
optimum performance are consistent with those risks. 
 
The College has a separate treasury management policy in place. 
 
Short term borrowing for temporary revenue purposes is authorised by the Principal/Chief Executive. Such 
arrangements are restricted by limits in the College’s Financial Memorandum agreed with the Education and 
Skills Funding Agency. All other borrowing requires the authorisation of the Corporation and shall comply with 
the requirements of the Financial Memorandum. 
 
 
Cash flows and Liquidity 
 
The College continued to invest in its annual capital programme during the year, resulting in a cash outflow of 
£0.357m of capital investment.  The College repaid loan funds of £0.660m during the year. The overall 
increase in cash for the year was £0.146m (2016 / 2017: decrease £0.677m).  
 
Net debt at 31 July 2018 was £16.395m (31 July 2017: £17.201m). The decrease in net debt is due to the 
capital repayments being made during the year against the level of borrowings.  
 
The College has a bank loan facility comprising a 16 year £13.400m long term facility, maturing in 2030 and a 
£7.000m revolving credit facility which has been renewed for a further five years to 31 July 2023. These funds 
have been utilised to part fund the £20m STEM investment and continued annual capital programme. 
 
As at 31 July 2018, £17.740m of these facilities were utilised (31 July 2017: £18.400m).  During the year, 
interest of £0.346m was incurred (2017: £0.337m), at a floating rate following one month LIBOR plus a fixed 
margin of between 1.45% and 1.60%, resulting in a total interest rate charge of between 1.95% and 2.10%. 
The College remains compliant with all of its bank covenants. 
 
The size of the College’s total borrowing and its approach to interest rates has been calculated to ensure a 
reasonable cushion between the total cost of servicing debt and operating cash flow. During the year this 
margin was comfortably exceeded.  

Reserves Policy 

The College has no formal Reserves Policy but recognises the importance of reserves in the financial stability 
of any organisation, and ensures that there are adequate reserves to support the College’s core activities. As 
at the balance sheet date the Income and Expenditure reserve stands at £14.614m (2017: £15.531m). It is the 
Corporation’s intention to increase reserves over the life of the strategic plan through the generation of annual 
operating surpluses. 

 
CURRENT AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
 
Financial Health 
 
The College’s financial health as measured by the ESFA and self-assessed is “Satisfactory” for 2017 / 2018 
(2016 / 2017: Satisfactory).  The College’s medium term financial plan shows the College maintaining at least 
“Satisfactory” financial health rating throughout the period to 2022 / 2023. 
 
Student numbers 
 
In 2017 / 2018, the College has delivered activity that has received £32.442m in funding body main allocation, 
including Apprenticeship funding of £4.977m (2016 / 2017: £34.771m).  The College had 3,946 EFA 16-18 
funded learners, 3,235 SFA 19+ learners and 2,262 learners studying an apprenticeship framework. (2016 / 
2017: 4,141; 2,642 and 2,485 respectively). 
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The Students’ Voice 
 
The College has continued with its commitment to ensuring that the student voice is at the heart of its decision 
making process. 

 Elections were held to appoint a full-time student sabbatical officer for 2017 / 2018 academic year with 
three contenders receiving a total of 697 votes. 

 The College recruited 10 student representatives to represent the student body and to support across 
college and act as student mentors. 

 The College annual capital investment programme is linked to the Student Voice and investment is 
made in key areas where they have requested improvements and further investment in facilities and 
equipment. 

 The College Student Council met five times during the year and was informed by separate Directorate 
Student Councils. 

 During the year a number of awareness events were held on key topics of mental health, bereavement, 
deafness.   

 A well-being week was held in February 2018 which engaged hundreds of students in a range of 
activities including sessions with motivational guest speakers. 

 
Curriculum developments 
 
The College’s curriculum remains responsive and dynamic and is continually reviewed to ensure it meets the 
needs of all its stakeholders. The College remains alert to market demands and works closely with the Local 
Enterprise Partnership to anticipate the learner and employer response to shifts in national curriculum, funding 
entitlements and government priorities.  The College also uses Labour Market Intelligence data to inform its 
curriculum planning and identify local and regional skills gaps and demand. 

The College’s continual review of its curriculum ensures all learners are equipped with the technical skills, 
knowledge and employability skills required to have a successful career in their chosen sector. 

In 2017 / 2018, the College completed its delivery to its cohort of full time directly recruited 14-16 year olds, 
known as MC Academy.  These students followed a mixed programme of vocational options alongside 
studying mathematics and English.  The College is not continuing with this provision from 2018 / 2019. 

 
Events after the reporting period 
 
The College had an Ofsted Inspection in September 2018, resulting in an overall Grade 2 “Good”.  The good 
overall results in 2016 / 2017 have been sustained in 2017 / 2018, this was confirmed by Ofsted. Study 
programme achievement rates, value-added on vocational courses and average progress on GCSE English 
and maths courses are all very high and well above national rates. These results will place the College in the 
top quartile of colleges nationally. Timely achievement rates for apprenticeship programmes will place the 
College in the top 30% nationally, however further improvement is required. 
 
Future Prospects 
 
After making appropriate enquiries, the Governing Body considers that the College has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and has approved the 5 year financial plan to July 
2023.  It currently has available to it £14.614m of unrestricted reserves, headroom of £2.5m in its loan facilities 
to fund working capital requirements and has set a surplus budget for 2018 / 2019.  For future accounting 
periods it has forecast surplus budget positions.  The ESFA financial health measure remains at “Satisfactory” 
throughout the period to 2022 / 2023. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the Financial Statements. 
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RESOURCES 
 
The College has various resources that it can deploy in pursuit of its strategic objectives.  The College delivers 
its educational services from its Middlehaven campus. 
 
Financial 
 
The Group has £14.614m of unrestricted reserves (31 July 2017: £15.531m), including £8.217m defined 
benefit pension liability (31 July 2017: £7.658m) and long term debt of £17.740m (31 July 2017: £18.400m). 
 
People 
 
During the year, the College employed 742 people (expressed as full time equivalents), of whom 474 are 
teaching staff. (2016 / 2017: 788 and 544 respectively). 
 
Reputation 
 
The College has a good reputation locally and regionally, based on a good quality provision of education and 
training.  The College has strong links and relationships with local employers and other stakeholders. 
 
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
The College has well developed strategies for managing risk and strives to embed risk management in all that 
it does. The College’s risk management processes are designed to protect its assets, reputation and financial 
stability. The College compiles its risk register, based on perceived risks to achievement of its Strategic Plan, 
and uses the risk register to monitor and address key risks. 
 
The College’s risk register is broken down into strategic risks, departmental risks and provision type risks. The 
College’s financial risks are documented and monitored through this process. There is also a separate Health 
and Safety Risk Register which feeds into the overarching College Strategic Risk Register. 
 
The Risk Register is considered by the College’s Risk Management Group, the Senior Leadership Team and 
Audit & Risk Committee to the Governing Body.  All risks that are considered to be both likely and which would 
have a serious effect on the College are classified as high level risks plus any new strategic risks are reviewed 
and endorsed by the Senior Leadership Team to ensure they accurately reflect all significant risks to the 
College.  
 
The College also has in place a business continuity plan which is reviewed annually. Disaster recovery 
scenario training has been undertaken by key staff. 
 
Outlined below is a description of the principal risks that may affect the College. This list is not comprehensive 
and not all of the factors are within the College’s control. 
 
Risk Event 

 Failure to meet three year budget strategy and maintain at least “Satisfactory” financial health. 
 Failure to recruit and retain good staff and deliver workforce development plan. 
 Failure to adequately safeguard all learners and meet Prevent Duty. 
 Failure to invest in Capital IT infrastructure and implement disaster recovery process. 
 Inability to influence external stakeholders and poor external reputation. 
 Failure to ensure adequate Business Continuity is in place. 
 Inability meet an overall Ofsted Grade 2 outcome. 

 
Key risks are mitigated in the following ways: 

 Rigorous quality procedures are embedded throughout the College with clear underperformance 
processes; 

 Planned and managed implementation of growth, investment and marketing strategies; 
 Implementation and monitoring of operational delivery plans; 
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 Focusing on maintaining and managing key relationships with funding bodies and customers 
maintaining regular dialogue with the ESFA and LEP / Local Combined Authority; 

 Careful monitoring and awareness of policy changes and implementing nimble responses; work 
undertaken to ensure readiness for Apprenticeship Levy implementation; and 

 Ensuring the College focuses its delivery in priority areas. 
 
Stakeholder relationships 
 
Middlesbrough College has many stakeholders. These include: 
 

 Students; 
 Staff; 
 Education sector funding bodies; 
 Local employers (with specific links); 
 Local authorities / Combined Authority; 
 Government Offices and Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs); 
 The local community; 
 Other FE institutions; 
 Trade unions; and 
 Professional bodies. 

 
The College recognises the importance of these relationships and engages in regular communication and 
dialogue with its stakeholders. 
 
Equal Opportunities 
 
Middlesbrough College is committed to providing an environment in which there is equality of opportunity for 
all members of its community and our commitment for equality, diversity and inclusion ensures that all who 
learn and work at Middlesbrough College, and potential applicants to the college, are treated fairly and valued 
for their talents and ability, in all aspects of its activities as an employer and provider of education and training. 
 
The College’s Equality Policy and Statement is published on the College’s website. 
 
Middlesbrough College has in place a Single Equality Scheme and Action Plan that is linked to the College 
Strategic Plan and its Mission Statement and is informed by the Equality Act 2010 and associated legislation. 
 
The Single Equality Scheme is available on the College website and is available on request in a range of 
alternative formats. The linked Action Plan is updated and presented to the College Governing Body and 
College Senior Leadership Team termly. 
 
Disability Statement 
 
Middlesbrough College is committed to providing an environment in which there is equality of opportunity for 
all members of its community and visitors.  Our commitment for equality, diversity and inclusion ensures that 
all who learn and work at the College are treated fairly in response to the Equality Act 2010. It also aims to 
promote all other strands of equality and human rights.  The College’s Disability Statement is available online. 
 
Middlesbrough College recognises that everyone’s needs are unique and will work with students to identify 
any barriers that exist and make every effort to remove them. The College welcomes applications from 
students with learning difficulties or disabilities or additional support needs and the College aims to provide the 
appropriate resources, facilities and services to enable students to be successful in their chosen programme of 
study.  The expertise of our staff enables us to provide excellent help and guidance to all prospective students. 
 
Middlesbrough College proudly promotes itself as an equal opportunities employer and acknowledges the 
diverse needs of its employees and the community it serves. The College holds Disability Committed 
Employer status. The College values diversity and inclusion by adopting a positive and proactive approach to 
support employees and future job applicants with disabilities or known health issues.     
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Human Trafficking Statement 
 
The College, as part of the Further Education Sector, recognises it has a responsibility to take a robust 
approach to slavery and human trafficking under The Modern Slavery Act 2015 (Transparency in Supply 
Chains) Regulations 2015. 
 
The College is absolutely committed to preventing slavery and human trafficking in its corporate activities and 
to ensuring that its supply chains are free from slavery and human trafficking. 
 
The College’s Slavery and Human Trafficking statement was approved by the Governing Body on 18 October 
2018 and is available on the College website at: www.mbro.ac.uk within the Governor’s website; policies and 
procedures. 
 
Disclosure of Information to Auditor 
 
The members who held office at the date of approval of this report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the College’s auditor is unaware; and each member has taken 
all the steps that he or she ought to have taken to be aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the College’s auditor is aware of that information. 
 
Approved by order of the members of the Corporation on 18 December 2018 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 

 
Mr Robert Davies     
Chairman of Governors     
18 December 2018 
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Statement of Corporate Governance and Internal Control 
 
The following statement is provided to enable readers of the annual report and accounts of the College to 
obtain a better understanding of its governance and legal structure.  
 
This statement covers the period from 1 August 2017 to 31 July 2018 and up to the date of approval of the 
annual report and Financial Statements on the 18 December 2018. 
 
Middlesbrough College endeavours to conduct its business:  
  

1. In accordance with the seven principles identified by the Committee on Standards in Public Life: 
 

 Selflessness 
 Integrity 
 Objectivity 
 Accountability 
 Openness 
 Honesty 
 Leadership. 

 
2. In full accordance with the guidance to colleges from the Association of Colleges in The Code of 

Good Governance for English Colleges (“the Code”). 
 

3. Having due regard to the UK Corporate Governance Code (“the Code”) insofar as it is applicable to 
the Further Education Sector.  

  
The College is committed to exhibiting best practice in all aspects of corporate governance and, in particular, 
the College has adopted and complied with the Code of Governance. The College has not adopted and 
therefore does not apply the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, the College has reported on its 
Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice available, including those aspects of the 
UK Corporate Governance Code it considers to be relevant to the further education sector and best practice. 
 
In the opinion of the Governing Body, the College complies with the provisions of the Code of Governance and 
reported on a “comply or explain” basis to the Search & Governance Committee at its meeting on the 27 
September 2018 for the period 1 August 2017 to 31 July 2018.  
 
The Governing Body recognises that, as a body entrusted with both public and private funds, it has a particular 
duty to observe the highest standards of corporate governance at all times. In carrying out its responsibilities, it 
takes full account of The Code of Good Governance for English Colleges issued by the Association of 
Colleges in March 2015, which the College formally adopted on 15 October 2015. 
 
The College is an Exempt Charity within the meaning of Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011. The Governors, who 
are also the Trustees for the purposes of the Charities Act 2011, confirm that they have had due regard for the 
Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit, and that the required statements appear elsewhere in these 
Financial Statements. 
 
The College has a Public Value Statement and is published in the 2018-2023 Strategic Plan. 
 

Middlesbrough College is committed to adding value to the social, economic and physical well-being of the 
local community it serves. We are committed to raising aspiration, increasing opportunity and providing a 
foundation for sustainable economic growth and prosperity.  
 
Central to our responsibility is our work with partner organisations and our obligation to enrich the social, 
cultural, economic and physical well-being of our whole community.  
 
In practice, this means we are ready, willing and able to respond to the needs of our community whatever 
and wherever they may be.  
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In making this commitment we may be challenged to work in new ways and, at times, our own capability or 
capacity may be tested. 
 
We are nevertheless determined to devote ourselves to, and measure ourselves against, this endeavour. 

 
The Governing Body  
 
Governors serving on the Governing Body during 2017 / 2018 and up to 18 December 2018.  
 
Governors appointed in 2018 / 2019 and up to 18 December 2018 have been highlighted (shaded) where 
appropriate. 
 
* Date of re-appointment.   
** Chairman of Committee. 
 
 

Name Date of 
appointme

nt 
 

Term of 
Office 

 

Date of 
resignation 

Status of 
appointmen

t 

Committees  
Served 

Attendance  
(1 August 
2016 to 31 
July 2017) 
 

Dr 
Andy 
Allen 

16 October 
2017 

15 October 
2021 

- College 
Governor 

Corporate Services. 56% 
 

Mrs 
Andrea 
Waller-
Amos 
 
 

14 
December 

2015 

13 
December 

2019 

- Staff 
Governor 
(Business 
Support) 

Corporate Services. 80% 

Mr  
Trevor 
Arnold 

3 October 
2014* 

 2 October 
2018 

College 
Governor 

Corporate Services. 40% 

Mr  
John 
Autherson 
 

10 March 
2017* 

 31 
December 

2017 

College 
Governor 

Appeals Committee  
(Senior Postholders).  
Audit & Risk (**). 
Search & Governance. 
Selection (Senior Posts). 
Special (**). 
Standards. 
 

100% 

Mrs  
Moira  
Britton 
 

16 October 
2017* 

 
 

 31 August 
2018 

College 
Governor 

Appeals Committee 
(Senior Postholders) (**). 
Corporate Services (**). 
Search & Governance.  
Selection (Senior Posts). 
Settlement. 
 

79% 

Mrs 
Diane 
Cleves 

17 October 
2016 

16 October 
2020 

- Staff 
Governor 

(Academic) 

Standards. 60% 

Mr  
Ashley 
Coleman-
Cooke 
 

17 October 
2016* 

28 March 
2021 

- College 
Governor 

Appeals (Senior 
Postholders).  
Audit & Risk. 
Remuneration. 
Search & Governance. 

89% 
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Name Date of 
appointme

nt 
 

Term of 
Office 

 

Date of 
resignation 

Status of 
appointmen

t 

Committees  
Served 

Attendance  
(1 August 
2016 to 31 
July 2017) 
 

(Vice 
Chairman  
of 
Governors 
for the 
period  
1 August 
2017 to 18 
December 
2018) 
 

Selection (Senior Posts). 
Settlement. 
Special. 
Standards (**). 
 
 

Mrs 
Carol 
Cooney 

20 May 
2017 

19 May 
2021 

- College 
Governor 

Standards. 100% 

Mr  
Robert 
Davies 
 
(Chairman  
of 
Governors 
for the 
period  
1 August 
2017 to 18 
December 
2018) 
 

17 October 
2016* 

30 July 
2021 

- College 
Governor 

Corporate Services. 
Remuneration (**). 
Search & Governance (**). 
Selection (Senior Posts) 
(**).  
Settlement (**). 
 
 
 

100% 

Mr  
Andrew 
Dyne 

16 October 
2017* 

 
 

22 
September 

2018 

College 
Governor 

Corporate Services.  
Remuneration. 
From 1 September 2018 
Appeals Committee 
Search & Governance 
Selection (Senior Posts) 
Settlement 
 

91% 

Miss 
Marina 
Gaze 

2 
November 

2015 

1 
November 

2019 

- College 
Governor 

Standards. 70% 

Mrs 
Jean 
Golightly 
 

16 October 
2017 

15 October 
2021 

- College 
Governor 

Standards. 80% 
 
 

Mr  
Lee 
Holdsworth 

16 October 
2017 

15 October 
2021 

- College 
Governor 

Audit & Risk. 75% 
 
 

Mrs 
Yasmin 
Khan 

16 October 
2017 

15 October 
2021 

- College 
Governor 

Standards. 56% 
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Name Date of 
appointme

nt 
 

Term of 
Office 

 

Date of 
resignation 

Status of 
appointmen

t 

Committees  
Served 

Attendance  
(1 August 
2016 to 31 
July 2017) 
 

Mrs  
Zoe 
Lewis 
 

26 
September 

2013 

- - Principal / 
Chief 

Executive 
(Accounting 

Officer) 
 

Corporate Services.  
Search & Governance. 
Selection (Senior Posts).  
Standards. 
 

88% 

Mr  
Andrew 
Malcolm 

17 October 
2016* 

30 July 
2021 

- College 
Governor 

From 16 October 2017 
Audit & Risk.  
Remuneration. 
Special. 
 
From 1 January 2018 
Audit & Risk (**)  
Remuneration.  
Search & Governance. 
Selection (Senior Posts). 
Special. 
 

71% 

Mr Tom 
Courtman-
Stock 

1 August 
2016 

- 31 July 
2018 

 

Student 
Governor 

Audit & Risk. 
Standards. 

57% 
 

Mr 
Peter 
Studd 

13 July 
2015 

11 July  
2023 

(Extended 
four years 
from 12 

July 2019) 

- College 
Governor 

Corporate Services. 
Special. 
 
 

64% 

Mr  
Matthew 
Horner- 
Trewick 
 
 

16 October 
2017 

 31 July 
2018 

Student 
Governor 

- 83% 
 
 

Mr Iain 
Wright 

14 
December 

2017 

13 
December 

2021 

- College 
Governor 

Audit & Risk. 
Remuneration (**) 

60% 

Miss 
Megan 
Clarke 

18 October 
2018 

31 July 
2019 

- Student 
Governor 

- Appointed in 
2018 / 2019 

Mrs 
Sharon 
Lane 

18 October 
2018 

17 October 
2022 

- College 
Governor 

Standards. Appointed in 
2018 / 2019 

Miss Cara 
Hudson 

18 October 
2018 

31 July 
2019 

- Student 
Governor 

- Appointed in 
2018 / 2019 
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Overall Attendance 2017 / 2018 (excluding External Members) 
 

 Attendance Possible Attendance Attendance Rate 
(Percentage) 

Overall Attendance 178 231 77% 

 
 
Governing Body Attendance 2017 / 2018 
 

 Attendance Possible Attendance Attendance Rate 
(Percentage) 

Governing Body 100 135 74% 

 
 
Committee Attendance 2017 / 2018 
 

 Attendance Possible Attendance Attendance Rate 
(Percentage) 

Audit & Risk 14 19 74% 

Corporate Services 24 25 96% 

Remuneration 3 4 75% 

Search & Governance 18 23 78% 

Standards 19 25 75% 

 
 
External Members Attendance 2017 / 2018 
 

Name of External Member Attendance Possible Attendance Attendance Rate 
(Percentage) 

Mr John Autherson 
(Appointed 1 January 2018) 

2 2 100% 

Mr S Green 
(Appointed 16 October 2017) 

3 3 100% 

Mr A Hanif 
(Appointed 6 July 2017) 
 

Not Applicable Not Applicable Not Applicable 

Mr F Hayes 
(Resigned 2 October 2018) 
 

7 8 87.5% 

Miss S Shepherd 
(Appointed 1 August 2016) 
 

3 4 75% 

Mr A Stephenson 
(Re-appointed 9 July 2018) 

2 3 67% 

Mr S Wilson 
(Re-appointed 9 July 2018) 
 

2 3 67% 

Total 20 23 87% 
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Mr Richard Atkinson was appointed as Clerk to the Corporation on the 1 May 2002 as a full-time Independent 
Clerk managing the Corporate Governance process for the Governing Body and all its Committees. Since 
2007 the role of Clerk to the Corporation has been held by Mr Atkinson as part of a dual Management and 
Governor Services role, and further details are available upon request.  
 
Mr Richard Atkinson held this post until 31 August 2018. A new Clerk to the Corporation was appointed on the 
22 August 2018 (by Written Resolution) following interviews by the Selection (Senior Posts) Committee on 
Monday 20 August 2018. Mrs Zeta Foster commenced the role of Clerk to the Corporation on the 11 
September 2018. The Governing Body arranged for an Interim Clerk to the Corporation (Miss Claire Harrison) 
to be in post from the 9 July 2018 to allow a smooth transition. 
 
It is the Governing Body’s responsibility to bring independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, 
performance, resources and standards of conduct. 
 
The Governing Body is provided with regular and timely information on the overall financial performance of the 
College, together with other information such as performance against funding targets, proposed capital 
expenditure, quality matters and personnel related matters, such as health and safety and environmental 
issues.  
 
The professional expertise of the Governing Body in terms of financial management and control and 
associated skills are considered to be strong amongst its current membership. 
 
The Governing Body meets at least termly. 
 
The Governing Body conducts its business through a number of committees. Each Committee has Terms of 
Reference, which have been approved by the Governing Body. The last annual review took place on the 20 
March 2017 (Audit & Risk Committee up-dated their Terms of Reference on the 9 July 2018). Further ad hoc 
reviews have also been carried out with the latest version of the Committee Structure being available on the 
Governors’ Website. 
 
The Committee Structure as of the 31 July 2018 is: 
 

 Appeals (Senior Post-holders). 
 Audit & Risk. 
 Corporate Services. 
 Remuneration. 
 Search & Governance. 
 Selection (Senior Posts). 
 Settlement. 
 Special. 
 Standards. 

 
 
The Governing Body has also appointed a number of External Members to serve on a number of committees, 
as detailed below, and is correct as at 18 December 2018: 
 

External Member Name of Committee(s) Served 
 

Mr John Autherson Audit & Risk Committee 
(Appointed 1 January 2018 for a period of four years to 31 December 2021) 
 

Mr Stuart Green 
 

Audit & Risk Committee 
(Appointed 16 October 2017 for a period of four years to 15 October 2021) 
 

Mr Aslam Hanif 
 

Equality & Diversity Committee  
(Appointed from the 6 July 2017 for a period of four years to 5 July 2021) 
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Mr Francis Hayes 
 

Audit & Risk Committee 
Search & Governance Committee 
(Resigned 2 October 2018) 
 

Miss Sarah Shepherd Search & Governance Committee 
(Converted from a College Governor to an External Member on 1 August 2016) 
(Appointed from the 1 August 2016 for a period of four years to 31 July 2020) 
 

Mr Andrew Stephenson 
 

Standards Committee 
(Appointed from 13 July 2015 for a period of four years to 12 July 2019) 
(Re-appointed for a Final Term of Office from 12 July 2019 to 11 July 2023) 
 

Mr Sandy Wilson 
 

Corporate Services Committee 
(Appointed from 20 May 2017 for a period of two years to 19 May 2019) 
(Re-Appointed from 19 May 2019 for a period of two years to 18 May 2021 
 

 
Full minutes of all meetings, except those deemed to be confidential by the Governing Body, are available 
from: 

Zeta Foster 
Clerk to the Corporation 
Middlesbrough College 
Dock Street 
Middlesbrough  
TS2 1AD 

  z.foster@mbro.ac.uk 
 
The Clerk to the Corporation maintains a register of financial and personal interests (Register of Interests) of 
the Governors, and this is available for inspection at the above address and is updated on an annual basis. 
 
All Governors are able to take independent professional advice in furtherance of their duties at the College’s 
expense and have access to the Clerk to the Corporation, who is responsible to the Governing Body for 
ensuring that all applicable procedures and regulations are complied with. The appointment, evaluation and 
removal of the Clerk to the Corporation are matters for the Governing Body as a whole. 
 
Formal agendas, papers and reports are supplied to Governors in a timely manner prior to Governing Body 
meetings. Briefings are also provided on an ad hoc basis. 
 
The Governing Body has a strong and independent non-executive element, and no individual or group 
dominates its decision making process. The Governing Body considers that each of its non-executive 
members is independent of management and free from any business or other relationship that could materially 
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.  
 
There is a clear division of responsibility in that the roles of the Chairman of Governors and the Principal / 
Chief Executive (Accounting Officer) are separate.  
 
Governance Self-Assessment 
 
For 2017 / 2018, the Governing Body self-assessed itself as a Grade 2, with the Governance Self-Assessment 
Report being approved on the 18 December 2018.  This document highlighted a number of strengths and 
areas for improvement and followed the publication of the College’s Ofsted Inspection Report in October 2018. 
 
Copies of both documents are available from the Clerk to the Corporation. 
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Appointments to the Governing Body 
 
Any new appointments to the Governing Body are a matter for the consideration of the Governing Body as a 
whole, following advice from the Search & Governance Committee in terms of the appointment / re-
appointment of College Governors and External Members, with a Term of Office not exceeding four years from 
its last expiry date. The Governing Body is also responsible for ensuring that appropriate training is provided 
as required, and this is co-ordinated by the Clerk to the Corporation and reported direct to the Search & 
Governance Committee on a termly basis. The Governing Body has also adopted an appointment process in 
line with the AoC’s Code of Governance of College i.e. College Governors and External Members normally 
having a maximum of two terms of fourth years. However, the Governing Body has reserved the right to 
extend to a third term if there are mitigating circumstances and these are agreed by the Search & Governance 
Committee and Governing Body. 
 
Search & Governance Committee 
 
The Search & Governance Committee comprises six members of the Governing Body and two External 
Members as at the 31 July 2018, and they are responsible for the selection and nomination of any new 
member for the Governing Body’s consideration.  
 
Remuneration Committee 
 
The Remuneration Committee comprises five members of the Governing Body as at 31 July 2018, and its 
responsibilities are to make recommendations to the Governing Body on the remuneration and benefits of the 
Principal / Chief Executive (Accounting Officer), Senior Postholders (if applicable) and the Clerk to the 
Corporation.  
 
The Principal / Chief Executive (Accounting Officer) is a Senior Postholder. 
 
There are no other Senior Postholders as at the 31 July 2018. 
 
The Clerk to the Corporation is not a designated Senior Postholder.  
 
Details of remuneration for the year ended 31 July 2018 are set out in note 6 of the 2017 / 2018 Financial 
Statements. 
 
Audit & Risk Committee 
 
The Audit & Risk Committee comprises four members of the Governing Body (excluding the Principal / Chief 
Executive (Accounting Officer) and Chairman of Governors) and three External Members as at the 31 July 
2018.  
 
The 2017 / 2018 Student Governor (Tom Courtman-Stock) joined the Audit & Risk Committee on the 1 August 
2016 until his Term of Office expired on the 31 July 2018.  
 
The Audit & Risk Committee operates in accordance with written Terms of Reference approved by the 
Governing Body and advises the Governing Body on the adequacy and effectiveness of the College’s system 
of Internal Control and its arrangements for risk management, control and governance processes.  
 
The Audit & Risk Committee normally meets four times a year and provides a forum for reporting by the 
College’s Internal, Regularity and Financial Statements Auditors, who have access to the Audit & Risk 
Committee for independent discussion, without the presence of College management. The Audit & Risk 
Committee also receives and considers reports from the main Further Education funding bodies as they affect 
the College’s business.  
 
The College’s Internal Auditors review the systems of internal control, risk management controls and 
governance processes, in accordance with an agreed plan of input and report their findings to management 
and the Audit & Risk Committee. 
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Management is responsible for the implementation of agreed audit recommendations, and the Internal Auditor 
undertakes periodic follow-up reviews to ensure such recommendations have been implemented. 
 
The Audit & Risk Committee also advises the Governing Body on the appointment of Internal Auditors and the 
Regularity & Financial Statements Auditors, and their remuneration for both audit and non-audit work, as well 
as reporting annually to the Governing Body. 
 
 
Other Committees 
 
As detailed earlier, the Governing Body has a number of active committees, and the minutes of certain 
committees, including Audit & Risk, Corporate Services, Search & Governance and Standards are all posted 
on the Governors Website.  
 
Copies of the minutes can be obtained from the Clerk to the Corporation. 
 
Internal control 
 
Scope of Responsibility 
 
The Governing Body is ultimately responsible for the College’s system of internal control and for reviewing its 
effectiveness. However, such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. 
 
The Governing Body has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Principal / Chief Executive as 
Accounting Officer, for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of the 
College’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which she is 
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to her in the Financial Memorandum / 
Financial Agreement between Middlesbrough College and the Funding Bodies.  
 
The Principal / Chief Executive (Accounting Officer) is also responsible for reporting to the Governing Body 
any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control. 
 
The Purpose of the System of Internal Control 
 
The system of Internal Control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk 
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of College policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. The system of Internal Control has been in place in Middlesbrough College for 
the year ended 31 July 2018 and up to the date of approval of the 2017 / 2018 Financial Statements. 
 
Capacity to Handle Risk 
 
The Governing Body has reviewed the key risks to which the College is exposed, together with the operating, 
financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The Governing Body is 
of the view that there is a formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the College's 
significant risks that has been in place for the period ending 31 July 2018 and up to the date of approval of the 
2017 / 2018 Financial Statements.  This process is regularly reviewed by the Governing Body. 
 
The Risk and Control Framework 
 
The system of Internal Control is based on a framework of regular management information, and 
administrative procedures including the segregation of duties, and a system of delegation and accountability. 
In particular, it includes: 
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 Comprehensive budgeting systems with an annual budget, which is reviewed and agreed by the 
Governing Body. 
 

 Regular reviews by the Governing Body of periodic and annual financial reports, which indicate 
financial performance against forecasts. 

 
 Setting targets to measure financial and other performance. 

 
 Clearly defined capital investment control guidelines. 

 
 Adoption of formal project management disciplines, where appropriate. 

 
 
Middlesbrough College has an Internal Audit Service (ICCA Education, Training & Skills), which operates in 
accordance with the requirements of the Education & Skills Funding Agency’s Post 16 Audit Code of Practice, 
which was shared with the Audit & Risk Committee on the 12 June 2018.  
 
ICCA Education, Training & Skills were the Internal Auditors until 31 July 2018, with RSM Risk Assurance 
Services LLP being appointed as the new Internal Auditors from the 1 August 2018, following interviews by the 
Audit & Risk Committee on the 12 June 2018. 
 
The work of the Internal Audit Service is informed by an analysis of the risks to which the College is exposed, 
and annual Internal Audit plans are based on this analysis. The analysis of risks and the Internal Audit Plans 
are endorsed by the Governing Body on the recommendation of the Audit & Risk Committee.  
 
Annually, the Head of Internal Audit (HIA) provides the Audit & Risk Committee and the Governing Body with a 
report on Internal Audit activity in the College. The report includes the Head of Internal Audit’s Independent 
Opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the College’s system of risk management, controls and 
governance processes. 
 
 
Review of Effectiveness 
 
As Accounting Officer, the Principal / Chief Executive has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control, and this review of the effectiveness of the system of Internal Control is informed by: 
 

 The work of the Internal Auditors (ICCA Education, Training & Skills). 
 

 The work of the executive managers within the College who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the Internal Control Framework. 

 
 Comments made by the College’s Financial Statements Auditor (KPMG), Regularity Auditor 

(KPMG) and the Funding Auditor (if appointed) in their Management Letters and other reports. 
 
The Principal / Chief Executive (Accounting Officer) has been advised on the implications of the result of her 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Audit & Risk Committee, which oversees the 
work of the Internal Auditor and Risk Management Group and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure 
continual improvement of the system is in place. 
 
The Senior Leadership Team receives reports setting out key performance and risk indicators and considers 
possible control issues brought to their attention by early warning mechanisms, which are embedded within 
the departments and reinforced by risk awareness training.  
 
The Senior Leadership Team and the Audit & Risk Committee also receive regular reports from Internal Audit 
and other sources of assurance, which include recommendations for improvement. The Audit & Risk 
Committee's role in this area is confined to a high-level review of the arrangements for Internal Control. 
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The Governing Body's agenda includes a regular item for consideration of risk and control and receives 
reports thereon from the Senior Leadership Team and the Audit & Risk Committee. The emphasis is on 
obtaining the relevant degree of assurance and not merely reporting by exception. At its 18 December 2018 
meeting, the Governing Body carried out the annual assessment for the year ended 31 July 2018 by 
considering documentation from the Senior Leadership Team and Internal Audit and taking account of events 
since 31 July 2018. 
 
Based on the advice of the Audit & Risk Committee and the Principal / Chief Executive (Accounting Officer), 
the Governing Body is of the opinion that the College has an adequate and effective framework for 
governance, risk management and control, and has fulfilled its statutory responsibility for “the effective and 
efficient use of resources, the solvency of the institution and the body and the safeguarding of their assets”. 
 
Going Concern 
 
After making appropriate enquiries, the Governing Body considers that the College has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and has approved the 5 year financial plan to July 
2023.  It currently has available to it £14.614m of unrestricted reserves, headroom of £2.5m in its loan facilities 
to fund working capital requirements and has set a surplus budget for 2018 / 2019.  For future accounting 
periods it has forecast surplus budget positions.  The ESFA financial health measure remains at least 
“Satisfactory” throughout the period to 2022 / 2023. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the Financial Statements. 
 
 
Approved by order of the members of the Governing Body on 18 December 2018 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 

  
 
Mr Robert Andrew Davies   Mrs Zoe Lewis 
Chairman of Governors   Principal / Chief Executive (Accounting Officer) 
18 December 2018    18 December 2018 
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Statement of Regularity, Propriety and Compliance 
 
 
The Governing Body has considered its responsibility to notify the Education & Skills Funding Agency of 
material irregularity, impropriety and non-compliance with Terms and Conditions of funding, under 
Middlesbrough College’s Financial Memorandum.  
 
As part of our consideration the Governing Body has had due regard to the requirements of the Financial  
Memorandum. 
  
We confirm, on behalf of the Governing Body, that after due enquiry, and to the best of our knowledge, we are 
able to identify any material irregular or improper use of funds by the College or material non-compliance with 
the Terms and Conditions of funding under the College’s Financial Memorandum.  
 
We confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been 
discovered to date. If any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the  
Education & Skills Funding Agency. 
 
 

  
 
Mr Robert Andrew Davies   Mrs Zoe Lewis 
Chairman of Governors   Principal / Chief Executive (Accounting Officer) 
18 December 2018    18 December 2018 
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Members of the Corporation 

The members of the Corporation are required to present audited financial statements for each financial year. 
Within the terms and conditions of the College’s Financial Memorandum with the ESFA, the Corporation, 
through its Accounting Officer, is required to prepare financial statements for each financial year in accordance 
with the 2015 Statement of Recommended Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education, and with 
the College Accounts Direction 2017 to 2018 issued by the ESFA, and which give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the group and the parent College and the result for that year. 
 
In preparing the group and parent College financial statements, the Corporation is required to: 
 

 select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently 
 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent 
 state whether applicable Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements 
 assess the group and parent College’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern; and   
 use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent 

College or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.   
 

The Corporation is also required to prepare a Members’ Report which describes what it is trying to do and how 
it is going about it, including information about the legal and administrative status of the College.  
 
The Corporation is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy, at any time, the financial position of the parent College, and which enable it to ensure that the 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with relevant legislation of incorporation and other relevant 
accounting standards. It is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
for taking steps that are reasonably open to it in order to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The maintenance and integrity of the College website is the responsibility of the Corporation of the College; 
the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the 
auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since 
they were initially presented on the website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
 
Members of the Corporation are responsible for ensuring that expenditure and income are applied for the 
purposes intended by Parliament and that the financial transactions conform to the authorities that govern 
them. In addition, they are responsible for ensuring that funds from the ESFA are used only in accordance with 
the Financial Memorandum with the ESFA and any other conditions that may be prescribed from time to time. 
Members of the Corporation must ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in 
place in order to safeguard public and other funds and to ensure they are used properly. In addition, members 
of the Corporation are responsible for securing economical, efficient and effective management of the group 
and parent College’s resources and expenditure, so that the benefits that should be derived from the 
application of public funds from the ESFA are not put at risk. 
 
Approved by order of the members of the Corporation on 18 December 2018 and signed on its behalf by: 
 

 
Mr Robert Andrew Davies 
Chairman of Governors     
18 December 2018     
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Independent auditor’s report to the Corporation of Middlesbrough College 
 

Opinion   

We have audited the financial statements of Middlesbrough College (“the College”) for the year ended 31 July 
2018 which comprise the Group and College Statement of Comprehensive Income, Group and College 
Statements of Changes in Reserves, Group and College Balance Sheet, Consolidated Statement of Cash flows 
and the related notes, including the accounting policies in note 1.   

In our opinion the financial statements:   

 give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and the College’s affairs as at 31 July 2017, and of the 
Group’s and the College’s income and expenditure, gains and losses and changes in reserves, and of the 
Group’s cash flows, for the year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland, and with the 2015 Statement 
of Recommended Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education. 

Basis for opinion   

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and 
applicable law.  Our responsibilities are described below.  We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, 
and are independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical 
Standard.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our 
opinion.   

 

Going concern   

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is 
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of that 
basis for a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements.  We have 
nothing to report in these respects.   

 

Other information   

The Corporation is responsible for the other information, which comprises the Principal’s Foreword, Report of 
the Governing Body and the Corporation’s statement of corporate governance and internal control and 
Statement of Regularity, Propriety and Compliance.  Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.   

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our audit knowledge.  Based solely on that work, we have not identified material misstatements in the other 
information. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception   

Under the Post-16 Audit Code of Practice 2017 to 2018 (March 2018) issued by the Education & Skills 
Funding Agency we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent College; or   

 the parent College’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records; or   

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

We have nothing to report in these respects.   
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Corporation’s responsibilities   
 
As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 26, the Corporation is responsible for: the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as it 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the group and parent College’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless it either intends to liquidate the group or the parent College or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.   
 
Auditor’s responsibilities   
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report.  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
   
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  
 
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 
 
This report is made solely to the Corporation, in accordance with Article 22 of the College’s Articles of 
Government. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Corporation those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the College and the Corporation for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.   
 
 

 
 
 
Rachel Fleming (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor       
Chartered Accountants 
Quayside House, 110 Quayside, 
Newcastle upon Tyne, 
NE1 3DX 
 
20 December 2018 
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Reporting Accountant’s Report on Regularity to the Corporation of Middlesbrough College and the 
Secretary of State for Education acting through the Education and Skills Funding Agency 
 
In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 11 October 2017 and further to the 
requirements of the financial memorandum with the Education and Skills Funding Agency we have carried 
out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether anything has come to our attention that 
would suggest that in all material respects the expenditure disbursed and income received by 
Middlesbrough College during the period from 1 August 2017 to 31 July 2018 have not been applied to the 
purposes identified by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 
  
The framework that has been applied is set out in the Post-16 Audit Code of Practice issued by the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency. In line with this framework, our work has specifically not considered 
income received from the main funding grants generated through the Individualised Learner Record (ILR) 
returns, for which the Education and Skills Funding Agency has other assurance arrangements in place. 
 
This report is made solely to the corporation of Middlesbrough College and the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter. Our work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the corporation of Middlesbrough College and Education and Skills Funding Agency 
those matters we are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the corporation of Middlesbrough 
College and the Education and Skills Funding Agency for our work, for this report, or for the conclusion we 
have formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of Middlesbrough College and the reporting accountant 
 
The corporation of Middlesbrough College is responsible, under the requirements of the Further & Higher 
Education Act 1992, subsequent legislation and related regulations and guidance, for ensuring that 
expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and the 
financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Our responsibilities for this engagement are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our 
engagement letter and the requirements of the Post-16 Audit Code of Practice. We report to you whether 
anything has come to our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, 
expenditure disbursed and income received during the period from 1 August 2017 to 31 July 2018 have not 
been applied to purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the 
authorities which govern them. 
 
Approach 
 
We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Post-16 Audit Code of Practice issued by the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency. We performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in that 
framework.  
 
The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information 
and explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative 
conclusion on regularity.  
 
A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and 
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant 
matters that might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a 
positive opinion. 
 
Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity of the 
college’s income and expenditure.  
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The work undertaken to draw our conclusion included: 
 

 Documenting the framework of authorities which govern the activities of the College; 
 Undertaking a risk assessment based on our understanding of the general control environment and 

any weaknesses in internal controls identified by our audit of the financial statements; 
 Reviewing the self-assessment questionnaire which supports the representations included in the 

Chair of Governors and Accounting Officer's statement on regularity, propriety and compliance with 
the framework of authorities; 

 Testing transactions with related parties; 
 Confirming through enquiry and sample testing that the College has complied with its procurement 

policies and that these policies comply with delegated authorities; and 
 Reviewing any evidence of impropriety resulting from our work and determining whether it was 

significant enough to be referred to in our regularity report.  
 
This list is not exhaustive and we performed additional procedures designed to provide us with sufficient 
appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on regularity consistent with the requirements of the 
Post-16 Audit Code of Practice. 
 
 
Conclusion  

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects the 
expenditure disbursed and income received during the period from 1 August 2017 to 31 July 2018 has not 
been applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the 
authorities which govern them. 
 

 
Rachel Fleming  
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Reporting Accountant  
Quayside House 
110 Quayside 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
NE1 3DX 
  
20 December 2018 
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

 Notes Year ended 
31 July 2018 

 

Year ended  
31 July 2017 

  Group College Group College 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

INCOME      

Funding body grants 2 32,442 32,442 34,771 34,771 

Tuition fees and education contracts  3 4,889 4,452 4,613 4,399 

Other income 4 3,990 4,568 2,903 3,135 

Investment income 5 2 2 1 1 

Total income  41,323 41,464 42,288 42,306 

      

EXPENDITURE      

Staff costs 6 24,512 21,397 25,822 23,301 

Restructuring costs 6 290 290 503 503 

Other operating expenses 7 13,008 16,269 12,955 15,589 

Depreciation & amortisation 9, 11 4,201 4,162 4,538 4,486 

Impairment 9 325 325 - - 

Interest and other finance costs 8 530 530 598 598 

Total expenditure  42,866 42,973 44,416 44,477 

      

Deficit before other gains and losses  (1,543) (1,509) (2,128) (2,171) 

(Loss) / gain on disposal of assets  (14) (14) 177 177 

Deficit before tax  (1,557) (1,523) (1,951) (1,994) 

Deficit for the year  (1,557) (1,523) (1,951) (1,994) 

Actuarial gain in respect of pensions schemes 22 640 640 4,249 4,249 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year  (917) (883) 2,298 2,255 

      

Represented by:      

Unrestricted comprehensive income  (917) (883) 2,298 2,255 

  (917) (883) 2,298 2,255 

      
 

The Group deficit for the year of £0.917m includes the following: an underlying operating deficit of £0.187m 
(after one-off costs including £0.290m of restructuring costs) and non-cash pension deficit adjustments of 
£1.370m. 
 
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is in respect of continuing activities. 
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Consolidated and College Statement of Changes in Reserves 
 
 Income and 

expenditure 
account 

 
 
 £’000 
Group  

Balance at 1 August 2016 13,233 

Deficit from the income and expenditure 
account 

(1,951) 

Other comprehensive income 4,249 
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,928 
  
Balance at 31 July 2017 15,531 

Deficit from the income and expenditure 
account 

(1,557) 

Other comprehensive income 640 
Total comprehensive income for the year (917) 
  
Balance at 31 July 2018 14,614 
  
College  
Balance at 1 August 2016 13,248 

Deficit from the income and expenditure 
account 

(1,994) 

Other comprehensive income 4,249 
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,255 
  
Balance at 31 July 2017 15,503 

Deficit from the income and expenditure 
account 

(1,523) 

Other comprehensive income 640 
Total comprehensive income for the year (883) 

Balance at 31 July 2018 14,620 
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Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2018 
 

 Notes Group College Group College 
  2018 2018 2017 2017 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Non current assets      
Tangible fixed assets 9 77,198 77,195 81,357 81,350 
Intangible assets 11 277 - 312 - 
Investments 10 - 464 - 464 
  77,475 77,659 81,669 81,814 
      
Current assets      
Stocks  58 33 64 42 
Trade and other receivables 12 2,827 2,703 2,495 2,368 
Cash and cash equivalents 18 1,345 1,210 1,199 1,159 
  4,230 3,946 3,758 3,569 
Creditors – amounts falling due 
within one year 

13 (6,411) (6,305) (7,236) (7,220) 

Net current liabilities  (2,181) (2,359) (3,478) (3,651) 
      
Total assets less current liabilities  75,294 75,300 78,191 78,163 
Creditors – amounts falling due after 
more than one year 

14 (49,414) (49,414) (51,909) (51,909) 

Provisions       
Defined benefit obligations 17 (8,217) (8,217) (7,658) (7,658) 
Other provisions 17 (3,049) (3,049) (3,093) (3,093) 
Total net assets  14,614 14,620 15,531 15,503 
     
Unrestricted Reserves      
Income and expenditure account   14,614 14,620 15,531 15,503 
Total unrestricted reserves  14,614 14,620 15,531 15,503 

 
 
 
The financial statements on pages 31 to 54 were approved by the Corporation on 18 December 2018 and 
were signed on its behalf on that date by: 
 
  

     
 
Mr Robert Davies     Mrs Zoe Lewis 
Chairman of Governors    Principal / Chief Executive (Accounting Officer) 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Group Notes 2018  2017 
  £’000  £’000 
Cash flow from operating activities     
Deficit for the year  (1,557)  (1,951) 
Adjustment for non-cash items     
Depreciation and amortisation  4,201  4,538 
Impairment of assets  325  - 
Deferred capital grants release  (1,397)  (1,492) 
Pensions costs less contributions payable  1,015  1,050 
Decrease / (increase) in stocks  6  (19) 
(Increase) / decrease in debtors  (332)  251 
Decrease in creditors  (1,263)  (1,419) 
Decrease in provisions  (44)  (196) 
Adjustment for investing or financing activities     
Investment income  (2)  (1) 
Interest payable and other finance costs  530  598 
Loss / (gain) on sale of fixed assets  14  (177) 
Net cash flow from operating activities  1,496  1,182 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  1  59 
Interest received  2  1 
Payment made to acquire subsidiary investment  -  (384) 
Payments made to acquire fixed assets  (347)  (1,698) 
  (344)  (2,022) 
Cash flows from financing activities     
Interest paid  (346)  (337) 
New unsecured loans  -  500 
Repayments of amounts borrowed  (660)  - 
  (1,006)  163 
     
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year  146  (677) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  1,199  1,876 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (note 18)  1,345  1,199 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
1. Statement of Accounting Policies 
 
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered 
material in relation to the financial statements. 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice: 
Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2015 (the 2015 FE HE SORP), the College Accounts Direction 
and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 – “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102). The College is a public benefit entity and has 
therefore applied the relevant public benefit requirements of FRS 102. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying the College's accounting 
policies. 
 
The College has taken advantage of the exemptions provided in FRS 102 1.12 and the 2015 FE HE SORP 
3.3, and has not included a separate statement of its own cash flows. These cash flows are included within the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, and the College balance sheet discloses cash at both the current and 
preceding reporting dates. 
 
Basis of accounting 
 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.  
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the College and its subsidiary undertakings Northern Skills 
Group Limited, Middlesbrough College Management Services Limited, Northern Apprenticeship Company 
Limited and Mizaru Media Limited, controlled by the Group.  Control is achieved where the Group has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
Under the purchase method of accounting, the results of subsidiary and associated undertakings acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income and expenditure account from or up to the 
date on which control of the undertaking passes. Intra-group sales and profits are eliminated fully on 
consolidation. All financial statements are made up to 31 July 2018.  
 
Going concern 
 
The activities of the College together with the factors likely to affect its future development and performance 
are set out in the Operating and Financial Review. The financial position of the College, its cash flow, liquidity 
and borrowings are described in the financial statements and accompanying notes. 
 
The College has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and has 
approved the 5 year financial plan to July 2023.  It currently has available to it £14.614m of unrestricted 
reserves, headroom of £2.5m in its loan facilities to fund working capital requirements and has set a surplus 
budget for 2018 / 2019.  For future accounting periods it has forecast surplus budget positions.  The ESFA 
financial health measure remains at “Satisfactory” throughout the period to 2022 / 2023. For this reason, it 
continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Financial Statements. 
 
The College met all of its bank covenants during the year and its forecasts and financial plan indicate that it 
will be able to continue to meet the covenants set and operate within this facility for the foreseeable future. 
 
Accordingly, the College has a reasonable expectation that it has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future, and for this reason will continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in the preparation of the financial statements. 
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1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Revenue grant funding 
 
Government revenue grants include funding body recurrent grants and other grants and are accounted for 
under the accruals model as permitted by FRS 102. Funding body recurrent grants are recognised in line with 
best estimates for the period of what is receivable and depend on the particular income stream involved. Any 
under or over achievement for the Adult Education Budget is adjusted for and reflected in the level of recurrent 
grant recognised in the income and expenditure account. The final grant income is normally determined with 
the conclusion of the year end reconciliation process with the funding body following the year end, and the 
results of any funding audits. 16-18 year old learner funding is not normally subject to reconciliation and is 
therefore not subject to contract adjustments. 
 
Income from the provision of Higher Education courses is in partnership with Teesside University, income 
earned is credited direct to the income and expenditure account. 
 
Income from tuition fees is recognised in the period for which it is earned and includes all fees payable by 
students or their sponsors. 
 
Income from grants, contracts and other services rendered is included to the extent the conditions of the 
funding have been met or the extent of the completion of the contract or service concerned. All income from 
short-term deposits is credited to the income and expenditure account in the period in which it is earned. 
 
Capital grant funding 
 
Government capital grants are capitalised, held as deferred income and recognised in income over the 
expected useful life of the asset, under the accrual model as permitted by FRS 102. Other, non-governmental, 
capital grants are recognised in income when the College is entitled to the funds subject to any performance 
related conditions being met. Income received in advance of performance related conditions being met is 
recognised as deferred income within creditors on the Balance Sheet and released to income as conditions 
are met. 
  
Fee income 
 
Income from tuition fees is recognised in the period for which it is earned and includes all fees payable by 
students or their sponsors. 
 
Investment income 
 
All income from short-term deposits is credited to the income and expenditure account in the period in which it 
is earned on a receivable basis. 
 
Agency arrangements 
 
The College acts as an agent in the collection and payment of certain discretionary support funds. Related 
payments received from the funding bodies and subsequent disbursements to students are excluded from the 
income and expenditure account and are shown separately in note 24, except where the College retains a 
beneficial interest, in which case the expenditure together with the related income is recognised in the 
accounts. 
 
Accounting for post-employment benefits 
 
Post-employment benefits to employees of the College are provided by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) 
and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). These are defined benefit schemes, which are externally 
funded and contracted out of the State Second Pension. 
 
 
 



The Further Education Corporation of Middlesbrough College – Report and Financial Statements 2017 / 2018 

     37 

1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) 
 
The TPS is an unfunded scheme. Contributions to the TPS are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions 
over employees’ working lives with the College in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level 
percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by qualified actuaries 
on the basis of valuations using a prospective benefit method.  
 
The TPS is a multi-employer scheme and there is insufficient information available to use defined benefit 
accounting. The TPS is therefore treated as a defined contribution plan and the contributions recognised as an 
expense in the income statement in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. 
 
Teesside Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
 
The LGPS is a funded scheme. The assets of the LGPS are measured using closing fair values. LGPS 
liabilities are measured using the projected unit credit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a 
high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. The actuarial valuations are 
obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The amounts charged to operating 
surplus are the current service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes, settlements and 
curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as incurred.  
 
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme 
assets, calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate 
used to discount the benefit obligations. The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets 
and the actual return on the scheme assets is recognised in interest and other finance costs. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in actuarial gains and losses. 
 
Short-term employment benefits 
 
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences (holiday pay) are recognised as 
an expense in the year in which the employees render service to the College. Any unused benefits are 
accrued and measured as the additional amount the College expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement. 
 
Enhanced pensions 
 
The actual cost of any enhanced ongoing pension to a former member of staff is paid by the college annually. 
An estimate of the expected future cost of any enhancement to the ongoing pension of a former member of 
staff is charged in full to the College’s income in the year that the member of staff retires. In subsequent years 
a charge is made to provisions in the balance sheet using the enhanced pension spreadsheet provided by the 
funding bodies. 
 
Tangible fixed assets 
 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated impairment costs and are amortised over their expected 
useful economic life of 10 years. 
 
Land and buildings 
 
Freehold land is not depreciated. Leasehold land and buildings are depreciated over 50 years or, if shorter, the 
period of the lease. The College has a policy of depreciating major adaptations to buildings over the period of 
their useful economic life. 
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1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Where land and buildings are acquired with the aid of specific grants, they are capitalised and depreciated as 
above. The related grants are credited to a deferred capital income account within creditors and are released 
to the income and expenditure account over the expected useful economic life of the related asset on a 
systematic basis consistent with depreciation policy. Finance costs, which are directly attributable to the 
construction of land and buildings, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. A review for impairment 
of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of any 
fixed asset may not be recoverable.  
 
Assets under construction 
 
Assets under construction are accounted for at cost, based on the value of architects’ certificates and other 
direct costs, incurred to 31 July. They are not depreciated until they are brought into use. 
 
Subsequent expenditure on existing fixed assets 
 
Where significant additional expenditure is incurred on tangible fixed assets it is charged to the income and 
expenditure account in the period it is incurred, unless it meets one of the following criteria, in which case it is 
capitalised and depreciated on the relevant basis: 
 
• Market value of the fixed asset has subsequently improved 
• Asset capacity increases 
• Substantial improvement in the quality of output or reduction in operating costs 
• Significant extension of the asset’s life beyond that conferred by repairs and maintenance 
 
Equipment 
 
Equipment costing less than £2,000 per individual item is written off to the income and expenditure account in 
the period of acquisition. All other assets are capitalised at cost and depreciated over their useful economic life 
as follows: 
 
• Motor vehicles and general equipment - 5 years straight line 
• Computer equipment - 3 to 5 years straight line 
• Furniture, fixtures and fittings - 10 years straight line 
 
Where equipment is acquired with the aid of specific grants, it is capitalised and depreciated in accordance 
with the above policy, with the related grant being credited to a deferred capital grant account and released to 
the income and expenditure account over the expected useful economic life of the related equipment. 
 
Leased assets 
 
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. Any lease premiums or incentives relating to leases signed after 
1st August 2014 are spread over the minimum lease term. The College has taken advantage of the transitional 
exemptions in FRS 102 and has retained the policy of spreading lease premiums and incentives to the date of 
the first market rent review for leases signed before 1st August 2014. 
 
Leasing agreements which transfer to the College substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership of an 
asset are treated as finance leases.  
 
Assets held under finance leases are recognised initially at the fair value of the leased asset (or, if lower, the 
present value of minimum lease payments) at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Assets held under finance leases are 
included in tangible fixed assets and depreciated and assessed for impairment losses in the same way as 
owned assets. 
 



The Further Education Corporation of Middlesbrough College – Report and Financial Statements 2017 / 2018 

     39 

1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
 
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding 
liability. The finance charges are allocated over the period of the lease in proportion to the capital element 
outstanding. 
 
Investments 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment in the College financial statements. 
 
Stocks 
 
Stocks are stated at the lower of their cost (using the first in first out method) and net realisable value. Where 
necessary, provision is made for obsolete, slow moving and defective stocks.  
 
Cash 
 
Cash for the purposes of the cash flow statement comprises of cash in hand and deposits repayable within 
three months less overdrafts repayable on demand. 
 
 
Financial liabilities and equity 
 
Financial liabilities and equity are classified according to the substance of the financial instrument’s contractual 
obligations, rather than the financial instrument’s legal form.  All loans, investments and short term deposits 
held by the Group are classified as basic financial instruments in accordance with FRS 102. These 
instruments are initially recorded at the transaction price less any transaction costs (historical cost). FRS 102 
requires that basic financial instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
 
Maintenance of premises 
 
The cost of routine maintenance is charged to the income and expenditure account in the period in which it is 
incurred. 
 
Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenditure in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of 
transaction. 
Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the end of the 
financial year with any exchange differences charged to the income and expenditure account in the period in 
which they arise.  
 
Taxation 
 
The College is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 2010 and therefore 
it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, the College is 
potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered by 
Chapter 3 Part 11 Corporation Tax Act 2011 or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to 
the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes.  
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1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
The College is partially exempt in respect of Value Added Tax, so that it can only recover a minor element, 
around 3%, of VAT charged on its inputs. Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the costs of such inputs 
and added to the cost of tangible fixed assets as appropriate, where the inputs themselves are tangible fixed 
assets by nature. The College has in place a VAT group, incorporating the activities of its subsidiary 
companies. 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the College has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Accounting estimates and judgements 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Certain critical accounting judgements in applying the College’s accounting policies are described below. 
 

 Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets, other than investment properties, are depreciated over their useful lives taking into 
account residual values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual values are 
assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of factors. In re-assessing asset lives, factors 
such as technological innovation and maintenance programmes are taken into account. Residual value 
assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and 
projected disposal values. 

 
 Local Government Pension Scheme 

The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number 
of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used 
in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these 
assumptions, which are disclosed in note 22, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. 
Furthermore, a roll forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuation 
performed at 31 March 2016 has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at the balance 
sheet date. Any differences between the figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full actuarial 
valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability. 
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2 Funding body grants Year ended 

31 July 

 Year ended 

31 July 
 2018 2018  2017 2017 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 

Recurrent grants      

Education and Skills Funding Agency - Adult 4,261 4,261  5,079 5,079 

Education and Skills Funding Agency - 16-18 21,493 21,493  22,519 22,519 

Education and Skills Funding Agency - 
Apprenticeships 

4,977 4,977  5,393 5,393 

Specific grants      

Educations and Skills Funding Agency 314 314  288 288 
Releases of government capital grants  1,397 1,397  1,492 1,492 
      
      
Total 32,442 32,442  34,771 34,771 

 
 
3 Tuition fees and education contracts Year ended 

31 July 

 Year ended 

31 July 
 2018 2018  2017 2017 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 

Adult education fees 762 594  1,022 808 

Apprenticeship fees and contracts 146 -  - - 

Fees for FE loan supported courses 1,145 1,022  1,103 1,103 

Fees for HE loan supported courses 2,756 2,756  2,374 2,374 

Total tuition fees 4,809 4,372  4,499 4,285 

Education contracts 80 80  114 114 

      
Total 4,889 4,452  4,613 4,399 

 
 
4 Other income Year ended 

31 July 

 Year ended 

31 July 

 2018 2018  2017 2017 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 

Catering and residences 893 893  1,069 1,069 

Other grant income 1,746 1,468  932 879 

Miscellaneous income 1,351 2,207  902 1,187 

      
Total 3,990 4,568  2,903 3,135 
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5 Investment income Year ended 

31 July 

 Year ended 

31 July 

 2018 2018  2017 2017 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Other interest receivable 2 2  1 1 

      
Total 2 2  1 1 

 
6 Staff costs – Group 

The average number of persons (including key management personnel) employed by the Group 
during the year, described as full-time equivalents, was: 

 2018  2017 
 No.  No. 
Teaching staff 474  544 

Non-teaching staff 268  244 

 742  788 
Staff costs for the above persons    
 2018  2017 
 £’000  £’000 

Wages and salaries 19,256  20,344 

Social security costs 1,531  1,721 

Other pension costs  3,539  3,662 

Payroll sub total 24,326  25,727 

Contracted out staffing services 88  51 
Other staffing costs 98  44 
 24,512  25,822 

Restructuring costs – Contractual 290  503 
    
Total Staff costs 24,802  26,325 

 
 
 Staff costs – College 

The average number of persons (including key management personnel) employed by the College 
during the year, described as full-time equivalents, was: 

 2018  2017 
 No.  No. 
Teaching staff 443  495 

Non-teaching staff 222  225 

 665  720 
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Staff costs for the above persons    
 2018  2017 
 £’000  £’000 

Wages and salaries 16,603  18,204 

Social security costs 1,330  1,564 

Other pension costs  3,330  3,464 

Payroll sub total 21,263  23,232 

Contracted out staffing services 63  43 
Other staffing costs 71  26 
 21,397  23,301 

Restructuring costs – Contractual 290  503 
    
Total Staff costs 21,687  23,804 
 

 
Key management personnel 
 
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the College and are represented by the Senior Leadership team which comprises 
the Principal/Chief Executive, Deputy Principal, Vice Principals and Assistant Principals.  
 
Emoluments of Key management personnel, Accounting Officer and other higher paid staff 

 
 2018  2017 
 No.  No. 
The number of key management personnel including the Accounting 
Officer was: 

 

9 

  

10 

 
 
The number of key management personnel and other staff who received annual emoluments, 
excluding employer contributions to national insurance and pensions but including benefits in kind, in 
the following ranges was: 

 Key management 
personnel 

 Other staff 

 2018  2017  2018  2017 
 No.  No.  No.  No. 
£50,001 to £60,000 p.a. 4  4  -  - 
£60,001 to £70,000 p.a. 2  3  -  1 
£70,001 to £80,000 p.a. 2  2  -  - 
£130,001 to £140,000 p.a. 1  1  -  - 
 9  10  -  1 

 
 
Emoluments paid to key management personnel are made up as follows: 

 2018  2017 
£’000  £’000 

Salaries 645  643 
Employers National Insurance 79  86 
Pension contributions 101  96 

Total key management personnel emoluments 825  825 
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There were no amounts due to key management personnel that were waived in the year, nor any 
salary sacrifice arrangements in place. 

The above emoluments include amounts payable to the Accounting Officer (who is also the highest 
paid officer) of: 

 2018  2017 
 £’000  £’000 
Salaries 133  132 
Pension contributions 20  18 

 153  150 
    

No compensation for loss of office was paid during the current year or prior year to former key management 
personnel. 
 
 
 
7 Other operating expenses  

 2018 2018  2017 2017 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 

Teaching costs 1,894 1,574  2,130 2,003 

Non-teaching costs 8,341 12,088  7,422 10,361 

Premises costs 2,773 2,607  3,403 3,225 

      
Total 13,008 16,269  12,955 15,589 

Other operating expenses include:  2018   2017 
  £’000   £’000 
Auditors’ remuneration:      

Financial statements audit*  34   36 

Internal audit**  26   25 

Other services provided by the financial statements 
auditor – taxation returns 

 3   3 

Due diligence costs  -   25 

Loss / (gain) on disposal of non-current assets   14   (177) 

Hire of assets under operating leases  327   505 

      
 *   includes £21,600 in respect of the College (2016/17 £21,600)    

 ** includes £21,340 in respect of the College (2016/17 £21,712)    
 
 
8 Interest and other finance costs – Group and College 
 2018  2017 
 £’000  £’000 
On bank loans 346  337 
Net interest on defined pension liability (note 22) 184  261 

  530  598 
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9 Tangible fixed assets (Group) 
  Land and 

buildings 
Long 

leasehold 

Equipment Assets in 
the course 

of  
construction 

Total 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost or valuation      
At 1 August 2017  85,934 27,636 376 113,946 
Additions  - 347 - 347 
Disposals  - (559) - (559) 

Reclassification  - 376 (376) - 
At 31 July 2018  85,934 27,800 - 113,734 

Depreciation      
At 1 August 2017  (12,907) (19,682) - (32,589) 

Charge for the year  (1,715) (2,451) - (4,166) 

Impairments  (325) - - (325) 

Elimination in respect of disposals  - 544 - 544 

At 31 July 2018  (14,947) (21,589) - (36,536) 

Net book value at 31 July 2018  70,987 6,211 - 77,198 

Net book value at 31 July 2017  73,027 7,954 376 81,357 

      
 Tangible fixed assets (College) 
  Land and 

buildings 
Long 

leasehold 

Equipment Assets in 
the course 

of  
construction 

Total 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost or valuation      
At 1 August 2017  85,934 27,612 376 113,922 
Additions  - 347 - 347 
Disposals  - (559) - (559) 
Reclassification  - 376 (376) - 

At 31 July 2018  85,934 27,776 - 113,710 

Depreciation      
At 1 August 2017  (12,907) (19,665) - (32,572) 

Charge for the year  (1,715) (2,447) - (4,162) 

Impairments  (325) - - (325) 

Elimination in respect of disposals  - 544 - 544 

At 31 July 2018  (14,947) (21,568) - (36,515) 

Net book value at 31 July 2018  70,987 6,208 - 77,195 

Net book value at 31 July 2017  73,027 7,947 376 81,350 
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10 Non-current investments 

 College  College 

 2018  2017 

 £’000  £’000 

Investments in subsidiary companies 464  464 

Total 464  464 

 
The College owns 100 per cent of the issued ordinary £1 shares of Northern Skills Group Business 
Services Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales, with registered office address Dock 
Street, Middlesbrough, TS2 1AD. The principal business activity of the company  is the operation of the 
College’s apprenticeship provision and to provide education and training to employers in the region. 

 
 
11 Intangible assets (Group) 

 Customer   

 relationship  Total 

 £’000  £’000 

Cost    

At 1 August 2017 347  347 

At 31 July 2018 347  347 

    
Depreciation    

At 1 August 2017 (35)  (35) 

Charge for the year (35)  (35) 

At 31 July 2018 (70)  (70) 

    
Net book value at 31 July 2018 277  277 

Net book value at 31 July 2017 312  312 

 
The College held no intangible assets at 31 July 2018 (2017: £nil). 

 
 
12 Trade and other receivables 
 Group  College  Group  College 
 2018  2018  2017  2017 
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
Amounts falling due within one year:        
Trade receivables 269  189  472  410 
Prepayments and accrued income 2,558  2,514  2,023  1,958 
        
Total 2,827  2,703  2,495  2,368 
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13 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
 Group  College  Group  College 
 2018  2018  2017  2017 
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
Bank loans 638  638  152  152 

Trade creditors 250  240  661  614 

Amounts owed to group undertakings -  145  -  231 

Other taxation and social security 418  384  664  635 

Accruals and deferred income 2,418  2,222  2,754  2,594 

Other creditors 332  321  334  323 

‘Lennartz’ VAT creditor 874  874  850  850 

Deferred income -  capital grants 1,414  1,414  1,486  1,486 

Amounts owed to the ESFA 67  67  335  335 

Total 6,411  6,305  7,236  7,220 

 
14 Creditors: amounts falling due after one year 

 Group  College  Group  College 

 2018  2018  2017  2017 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Bank loans 17,102  17,102  18,248  18,248 

Lennartz ‘VAT’ creditor -  -  24  24 

Deferred income - capital grants 32,312  32,312  33,637  33,637 

Total 49,414  49,414  51,909  51,909 

        
 
15 Maturity of debt 

(a) Bank loans        

Bank loans and overdrafts are repayable as follows:      
 Group  College  Group  College 
 2018  2018  2017  2017 
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
In one year or less 638  638  152  152 

Between one and two years 1,276  1,276  6,218  6,218 

Between two and five years 6,414  6,414  1,827  1,827 

In five years or more 9,412  9,412  10,203  10,203 

Total 17,740  17,740  18,400  18,400 
        
Bank loans are repayable by instalments falling due between 1 August 2018 and 31 March 2030, 
totalling £17.740m.  The lender is Santander on an unsecured arrangement.  Interest is floating following 
one month LIBOR at 0.50% plus a fixed margin of 1.45% on £13.240m and a fixed margin of 1.6% on a 
revolving credit facility of which £4.500m was drawn at 31 July 2018 of a £7.000m facility which is 
repayable by 31 July 2023. 
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(b) ‘Lennartz’ VAT creditor        

Lennartz VAT creditor commitments are as follows:   

 Group  College  Group  College 

 2018  2018  2017  2017 
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
In one year or less 874  874  850  850 

Between two and five years -  -  24  24 

Total 874  874  874  874 

        
 

 

16 Financial instruments 

The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities include: 

 Group  College  Group  College 

 2018  2018  2017  2017 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Assets measured at amortised cost:        

Trade debtors 269  189  472  410 

 269  189  472  410 

        
Liabilities measured at amortised cost:        

Trade creditors 250  240  661  614 

Other creditors 332  321  334  323 

Accruals 2,338  2,146  1,429  1,400 

Amounts owed to group undertakings -  145  -  231 

Bank loans 17,740  17,740  18,400  18,400 

 20,660  20,592  20,824  20,968 

 
 
17 Provisions 

Group and college   Defined 
benefit 

obligations 

 Enhanced 
pensions 

 Total 

   £’000  £’000  £’000 

At 1 August 2017   7,658  3,093  10,751 

Expenditure in the period   (1,128)  (215)  (1,343) 

Charge in the period   1,687  171  1,858 

At 31 July 2018   8,217  3,049  11,266 

 
Defined benefit obligations relate to the liabilities under the College’s membership of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme. Further details are given in Note 22.   
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The enhanced pension provision relates to the cost of staff who have already left the College’s employ.  
 
The principal assumptions for this calculation are: 
 
 2018  2017 

Price inflation 2.1%  2.0% 

Discount rate 2.8%  2.6% 
 
 
18 Cash and cash equivalents (Group) 
 At 1 

August 
2017 

 Cash 
flows 

 Other 
changes 

 At 31 
July 
2018 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,199  146  -  1,345 

Total 1,199  146  -  1,345 

 
19 Capital commitments 

 Group and College 

 2018  2017 

 £’000  £’000 

Commitments contracted for at 31 July 171  49 

 
20 Lease obligations 

At 31 July the College had minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows: 

 Group and College 
 2018  2017 
 £’000  £’000 
Future minimum lease payments due:    

Land and buildings    
Not later than one year 92  196 

Later than one year and not later than five years 287  304 

Later than five years 106  158 

 485  658 
Other    
Not later than one year 269  145 

Later than one year and not later than five years 332  113 

Later than five years -  - 

 601  258 
    
Total lease payments due 1,086  616 
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21 Contingent liabilities 
 
On 26 October, the High Court handed down a judgment involving the Lloyds Banking Group’s defined 
benefit pension schemes. The judgment concluded the schemes should be amended to equalise pension 
benefits for men and women in relation to guaranteed minimum pension benefits, “GMP”. The Government 
will need to consider this outcome in conjunction with the Government’s recent consultation on GMP 
indexation in public sector schemes before concluding on any changes required to LGPS schemes. 
 
 
22 Defined benefit obligations 
 
The College’s employees belong to two principal post-employment benefit plans: the Teachers’ Pension 
Scheme England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Teesside Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) for non-teaching staff which is administered by Middlesbrough Council via the 
Teesside Pension Fund Committee Panel.  Both are multi-employer defined-benefit plans. 
 
The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries. The latest 
formal actuarial valuation of the TPS was 31 March 2012 and of the LGPS 31 March 2016. 
 
Total pension cost for the year   2018  2017 
   £000  £000 
      
Teachers’ Pension Scheme: contributions paid   1,396  1,540 
Local Government Pension Scheme:       

Contributions paid  1,128  1,072  

FRS 102 (28)  charge   1,015 2,143 1,050 2,122 

Charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(staff costs) 

  3,539    3,662 

Enhanced pension charge to Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (other operating expenses) 

  17  16 

Total Pension Cost for Year   3,556  3,678 

 
There were no outstanding or prepaid contributions at either the beginning or the end of the financial year. 
 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
 
The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the 
Teachers' Pensions Regulations 2014. These regulations apply to teachers in schools and other educational 
establishments, including colleges.  Membership is automatic for teachers and lecturers at eligible 
institutions. Teachers and lecturers are able to opt out of the TPS. 
 
The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a ’pay as you go‘ basis – these contributions, 
along with those made by employers, are credited to the Exchequer under arrangements governed by the 
above Act. Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament. 
 
Under the definitions set out in FRS 102 (28.11), the TPS is a multi-employer pension plan. The College is 
unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the plan. 
 
Accordingly, the College has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted for its 
contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined-contribution plan. The College has set out above the 
information available on the plan and the implications for the College in terms of the anticipated contribution 
rates. 
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The valuation of the TPS is carried out in line with regulations made under the Public Service Pension Act 
2013. Valuations credit the teachers’ pension account with a real rate of return assuming funds are invested 
in notional investments that produce that real rate of return. 
 
The latest actuarial review of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2012. The valuation report was 
published by the Department for Education (the Department) on 9 June 2014.  The key results of the 
valuation are: 
 
‐ New employer contribution rates were set at 16.48% of pensionable pay (including administration fees of 

0.08%); 
‐ total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for 

service to the effective date of £191,500 million, and notional assets (estimated future contributions 
together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of £176,600 million giving a notional 
past service deficit of £14,900 million; 

‐ an employer cost cap of 10.9% of pensionable pay.  
‐ the assumed real rate of return is 3.0% in excess of prices and 2% in excess of earnings. The rate of 

real earnings growth is assumed to be 2.75%. The assumed nominal rate of return is 5.06%.  
‐  

The new employer contribution rate for the TPS was implemented in September 2015.  The next valuation of 
the TPS is currently underway based on April 2016 data, whereupon the employer contribution rate is 
expected to be reassessed and will be payable at some point in 2019. 
 
A full copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation can be found on the Teachers’ Pension 
Scheme website. 
 
The pension costs paid to TPS in the year amounted to £1.396m (2017: £1.540m) 
 
FRS 102 (28) 
 
Under the definitions set out in FRS 102 (28.11), the TPS is a multi-employer pension plan. The College is 
unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the plan. 
 
Accordingly, the College has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted for its 
contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined-contribution plan. The College has set out above the 
information available on the plan and the implications for the College in terms of the anticipated contribution 
rates. 
 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
 
The LGPS is a funded defined-benefit plan, with the assets held in separate funds administered by the 
Teesside Pension Fund. The total contributions made for the year ended 31 July 2018 were £1,590,000, of 
which employer’s contributions totalled £1,128,000 and employees’ contributions totalled £462,000. The 
agreed contribution rates for future years are 15.2% for employers and range from 5.5% to 12.5% for 
employees, depending on salary. 
 
The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of the fund at 31 March 2016, updated to 31 
July 2017 by a qualified independent actuary. 
 
  At 31 July 

2018 
At 31 July 
2017 

Rate of increase in salaries  4.1% 2.0% 
Future pensions increases  2.1% 2.0% 
Discount rate for scheme liabilities  2.8% 2.6% 
Inflation assumption (CPI)  2.1% 2.0% 
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The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates.  
The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are: 
 
  At 31 July 

2018 
At 31 July 
2017 

  Years years 

Retiring today    

Males  22.9 22.8 
Females  25.0 24.9 
Retiring in 20 years    
Males  25.1 25.0 
Females  27.3 27.2 
 
The College’s asset allocation at the balance sheet date were: 
 
      Fair Value 

at 31 July 
2018 

£’000 

 Fair 
Value at 
31 July 
2017 

£’000 

Equity instruments      29,677  30,952 
Property      3,130  839 
Cash      7,317  2,807 
Other      528  1,859 
Total fair value of plan assets    40,652  36,457 

       
 
The amount included in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is 
as follows: 

 2018  2017 
 £’000  £’000 
Fair value of plan assets 40,652  36,457 

Present value of plan liabilities (48,869)  (44,115) 

Net pensions liability (8,217)  (7,658) 

 
Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of the plan are 
as follows: 

 2018  2017 
 £’000  £’000 
Amounts included in staff costs    

Current service cost  2,141  2,118 

Past service cost 2  4 

Total  2,143  2,122 
 
Amounts included in interest payable 

Net interest payable 184  261 

 184  261 
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Amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 

Return on pension plan assets 2,165  4,835 
Experience losses arising on defined benefit obligations  (1,525)  (586) 

Amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 640  4,249 

    
 
Asset and Liability Reconciliation 
 2018  2017 
 £’000  £’000 
Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations 
    
Defined benefit obligations at start of period (44,115)  (40,395) 

Current service cost (2,141)  (2,118) 
Interest cost (1,146)  (1,050) 
Contributions by Scheme participants (462)  (468) 
Experience gains and losses on defined benefit obligations (1,525)  (586) 
Estimated benefits paid 522  506 
Past Service cost (2)  (4) 
Defined benefit obligations at end of period (48,869)  (44,115) 

 
Changes in fair value of plan assets 
    
Fair value of plan assets at start of period 36,457  29,799 
Interest on plan assets 962  789 
Return on plan assets 2,165  4,835 
Employer contributions 1,128  1,072 
Contributions by Scheme participants 462  468 
Estimated benefits paid (522)  (506) 

Fair value of plan assets at end of period 40,652  36,457 

 
 
23 Related party transactions 
 
Owing to the nature of the College’s operations and the composition of the board of governors being drawn 
from local public and private sector organisations, it is inevitable that transactions will take place with 
organisations in which a member of the board of governors may have an interest. All transactions involving 
such organisations are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the College’s financial regulations 
and normal procurement procedures.  
 
No transactions were identified which should be disclosed under FRS 102 section 33 ‘Related Party 
Disclosures’. 
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24 Amounts disbursed as agent   

Learner support funds 2018 
£’000 

 2017 
£’000 

    
Funding body grants – bursary support 968    1,019  
Interest earned  -   1  
 968    1,020  

Disbursed to students  (926)   (803) 

Administration costs  (42)   (42) 

Balance unspent as at 31 July, included in creditors -   175  

 
Funding body grants are available solely for students. In the majority of instances, the College only acts as a 
paying agent. In these circumstances, the grants and related disbursements are therefore excluded from the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
25 Acquisitions 
 
On 1 August 2016, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Northern Skills Group Limited for a total 
consideration of £384,000.  There were no changes to the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in the 
prior period. The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities: 
 
  Total 
  £’000 

Fixed assets   

Tangible assets (note 9)  24 

Intangible assets – Customer relationships (note 11)  347 

Current assets   

Other debtors  17 

Total assets  388 

   
Creditors   
Deferred tax liability  (4) 

Total liabilities  (4) 

Net identifiable assets and liabilities  384 

Goodwill  - 

Purchase consideration and costs of acquisition  384 

 
No other material intangible assets were identified. The acquired undertaking made a profit before Gift Aid of 
£0.334m in the year (2017: £73,129). 




